**APPELLANT'S FINAL BRIEF**

THE STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA  
In The Court of Appeals

APPEAL FROM RICHALAND COUNTY  
Administrative Law Court

S. Phillip Lenski, Administrative Law Judge

Appellate Case No. 2022-000182

Jerry Arnette,

Appellant,

v.

South Carolina Public  
Employee Benefit Authority,  
Employee Insurance Program  
(PEBA),

Respondent,

**APPELLANT'S FINAL BRIEF**

Jerry Arnette  
546 Pearlie Road  
Dillon, South Carolina 29536  
(843) 506-5967  
Appellant *pro se*

**RECEIVED**

OCT 10 2022

SC Court of Appeals

**I. STATEMENT OF ISSUE ON APPEAL**

Appellant Jerry Arnette (hereinafter “Appellant”) appeals the decision of the Honorable S. Phillip Lenski dated January 25, 2022, and Respondent, South Carolina Public Employee Benefit Authority, Employee Insurance Program (hereinafter “PEBA”), under the South Carolina Administrative Procedures Act, S.C. Code Ann. § 1-23-310 *et. Seq.* (1986 and Supp. 2006), to deny his claim for basic long term disability benefits (hereinafter “LTD”). (Id at R. p. 3-9)

This action is for judicial review by the Court of Appeals pursuant to South Carolina Code Ann. § 1-23-380 of PEBA’s decision under the State of South Carolina LTD Plan (hereinafter “Plan”). The specific issues on appeal are whether or not Appellant’s benefits under the plan are limited to twenty-four-months under the Musculoskeletal and Connective Tissue Conditions Limitation in the policy and/or disabled from performing any occupation due to non-limited conditions.

First, it is undisputed by the Appellants treating physicians, and Respondent’s reviewing physicians, and PEBA, that the Appellant has limitations and/or restrictions from working after

that date [May 14,2019] due to his diagnosis of lumbar radiculopathy with neurological abnormalities, which is a condition specifically excluded from the [24-month Limitation]. (R. p. 162, 171). “disabilities as a result of the following conditions are not limited:... radiculopathies that are documented by electromyogram...(R. p. 132, 142, 164, 171, 242). This was proven and documented on March 12, 2018 by a “Needle EMG of the right leg revealed chronic L5 and S1 Radicular Changes and the Needle EMG examination was performed in 7 muscles. The study was abnormal in 5 of the muscles.” (NCS/EMG Report R. p. 295-298).

The Appellant’s limitations and restrictions are in agreement with his treating physician Dr. Jason Highsmith’s diagnosis that the Appellant is fully disabled from lumbar radiculopathy with neurological abnormalities, (R. p. 193-194, 198, 256, 344) as this doctor is a specialist in this field.

Second, at issue, with the Respondents, (PEBAS) reviewing physicians, is that their opinions vary drastically from each other and from the Appellants treating physicians as to the Appellants limitations, restrictions and disability. (R. p. 132, 140, 141, 144, 147, 164, 213, 220-222, 236, 242-243). The Appellant has issue with the Respondents reviewing physicians as they have not physically seen, or treated, or spoken to the Appellant to discuss any medical conditions, side effects of medications, or the severity of his symptoms pertaining to his disability. The Respondents reviewing physicians, make no mention or take into consideration, the Appellants medications taken for radiculopathy with neurological abnormalities or the side effects of those medications and how it affects his limitations and restrictions and his ability to work any job, or to function daily. The Respondents physicians have not addressed the fact that the Appellant would miss multiple days a month due to his inability to function fully from constant pain and side effects from the medications that he takes for Lumbar Radiculopathy. These medications are, Gabapentin / Neurontin 300 MG, Tramadol HCL 50 MG, and

Cyclobenzaprine 10 MG and their combined Side Effects (R. p. 193-194, 334-335, 341) are more pronounced as they are taken together Daily. These side effects include, but are not limited to, Drowsiness, Dizziness, Blurred Vision, Loss of Coordination, Tiredness, Blurred / Double vision, Lightheadedness, Headaches, Tremors, Shallow Breathing, Difficulty Waking Up, Constipation, and Heart problems such as a Slow Heartbeat or Irregular Heart Rhythms, (R. p. 109-112, 213, 299-304, 339, 341). The Appellant has to stop or reduce these medications on days that he has to drive to doctor appointments, etc. The Appellant can't drive on many days out of the month as side effects restrict driving with warnings, "Do Not Drive, Operate heavy equipment, or do Anything that needs alertness or clear vision until you can do it safely. (R. p. 213, 282-283, 291-293, 299-304, 341). The Appellant lives alone and getting someone to drive him is difficult and often not possible. This makes it clear that the Appellant can not work at any job in the National Economy because of his Lumbar Radiculopathy and the medications that he takes for this condition.

Third, the Appellant has issue with the statement, "PEBA's summary of Arnette's medical records will focus on Arnette's medical records related to his back condition and lumbar radiculopathy for the time period from late 2018 through mid- 2020.", (Respondents Brief dated December 6, 2021. (R. p. 46, 48). The appellant has issue with PEBA as the record as a whole should have been taken into account and not their focus on just a part of the Appellant's medical records, as the Appellants medical records clearly showed before Lumbar Microdiskectomy in 2016 a "Large Focal Disc extrusion at L4-5 on the right with compression of the thecal sac and compromise of the right lateral recess. (R. p. 346, 347, 350) leaving residual Lumbar Radiculopathy in the right leg, pain in the right leg, causing numbness and pain. (R. p. 198, 320, 329, 338, 340, 344) dating back to an MRI in January 04, 2016.

Fourth, the Appellant has issue with the Respondents brief dated December 6, 2021. (R. p. 46-47) where under the title “Arnette’s Medical Records and Receipt of LTD Benefits” the timeline of his surgeries is incorrect. The Respondents brief incorrectly states that [“Arnette stopped working on February 13, 2017 and underwent surgery by Dr. Highsmith, a neurosurgeon, for cervical disc herniations on March 6, 2017. Following the surgery, Arnette, who has a history of polyarthralgia (joint pain), continued to complain of joint pain. After ceasing work and undergoing back surgery.”] This statement is completely incorrect. (R. p. 46-47).

The appellant’s medical records repeatedly show that he initially had an MRI showing a Large Lumbar Disc Herniation at L4-5 with compression on the thecal sac and compromise of the right lateral recess on January 4, 2016, because of radiculopathy, pain in the right leg, causing numbness and pain. (R. p. 346-347). Then on May 9, 2016, Dr. Jason Highsmith performed a Lumbar L4-L5 Microdiscectomy on Appellant because of a “Massive L4-5 Disk Herniation” with Radiculopathy into the right leg with worsening foot drop, and Neurologic decline with numbness and pain in the leg and foot. (R. p. 350-351). It wasn’t until later on March 06, 2017, that Dr. Highsmith performed an Anterior Cervical Discectomy and Arthroplasty on 2 levels C5-6 and C6-7 because of Cervical Disk Herniations at both levels causing neck and radicular arm pain. (R. p. 348-349).

“The Appellant, Arnette filed a claim for LTD benefits under the Plan, which was approved because Standard determined that Arnette’s back condition and related pain prevented him from returning to work in his own occupation. Arnette received LTD benefits for the entire 24-month own occupation period of disability from May 15, 2017, through May 14, 2019.” (R. p. 47).

The Appellant later paid back the money owed by him to Standard as per his contractual agreement on approximately August 12, 2019, in the amount of \$28,654.37 after being awarded

and receiving Social Security Disability benefits back pay starting from August 01, 2017, when he was awarded full Social Security Disability (R. p. 99-112, 367-369).

Fifth, The Appellant also has issue with the Respondents Brief dated December 06, 2021 (R. p. 48) where under “ III. Statement of Dr. Highsmith” the Respondents Brief states “Notably neither Dr. Highsmith’s Statement nor his medical records identifies any specific limitations and restrictions that Arnette has as a result of his radiculopathy.” This is clearly erroneous as “Statement of Dr. Jason Highsmith” (R. p. 193-194, 256, 344) States that “His (Mr. Arnette’s) activities are limited as follows:” Then it goes on to state... He can’t lift more than 10 lbs., cannot sit, stand, or walk for prolonged periods of time, has difficulty performing some activities of daily living, because of his medical conditions it is difficult for him to maintain a consistent schedule, and he can’t perform any activity for an extended period of time. Dr. Highsmith states that he is a medical doctor licensed to practice in South Carolina and is board certified in Neurosurgery and that his statement is based upon his medical education, experience, his specific knowledge of Mr. Arnette’s medical problems and treatment history. (R. p. 193-194, 256, 344).

Due to the Respondents Brief clearly having erroneous statements, inaccurate timeline of the surgical record, and choosing to focus only on just part of the Appellants record instead of the record as a whole, presented as fact by the Respondents Brief (R. p. 46 in footnotes) and the lack of consideration for the Appellants physical pain, physical limitations to function daily, and prescription medication side effects, preventing the Appellants ability to work full or part-time anywhere in the National Economy, the Appellant requests that the Court of Appeals reverse the order of Judge S. Phillip Lenski and PEBA’s denial of LTD benefits because the decision was clearly erroneous in view of the reliable, probative, and substantial evidence on the whole record.

## **II. STATEMENT OF THE CASE**

Appellant was employed with the South Carolina Department of Motor Vehicles in Field Services. As an employee of the South Carolina Department of Motor Vehicles, Appellant was a participant in the State Basic Long Term Disability Plan. On January 4, 2016, Appellant, having radiculopathy with pain radiating into right leg causing numbness and shooting pain had an MRI showing lumbar disc herniation, at L4-L5. On May 9 2016, Dr. Jason Highsmith performed a lumbar decompression at L4-L5 on Appellant. To date, there is still residual radicular leg pain with numbness in the right leg and some disc herniation. (R. p. 198, 227, 262). The Appellant exhausted all leave and vacation time and was forced to return to work on or about August 10, 2016. The Prescription medications, Gabapentin / Neurontin, Cyclobenzaprine, and Tramadol, used in the treatment of lumbar radiculopathy, caused Appellant to struggle with memory loss, mental foginess, lack of concentration, and fatigue. Appellant struggled to function because of the prescription pain medications, muscle relaxers and nerve pain medications that he had to take while working for the South Carolina Department of Motor Vehicles, and driving to and from work. Due to side effects of those medications, Appellant struggled to work, as he could not remember previous computer skills and learned tasks, and with the amount of pain that radiated into his right leg and foot with numbness. Every day at work was a constant struggle and he feared being fired any day for his inability to perform work tasks. Appellant was forced to cease working in February 2017 due to lumbar radiculopathy, facet arthropathy, osteoarthritis and disc disease. Appellant filed a claim for basic LTD benefits with Standard Insurance Company. Standard approved his claim for twenty-four months. Appellant underwent testing on March 12, 2018, NCS/EMG, this report proved that the right leg revealed chronic L5-S1 radicular changes proving radiculopathy in the right leg with neurological abnormalities. (R. p. 295-298) And showing proof as required by PEBA's Definition of a long-term disability not limited to the 24 months short term disability. After appealing Standards denial and the case was reviewed PEBA

stated that the Appellant had met the definition for disability for long term disability per the March 12, 2018, NCS/EMG report that proved the Appellant has radiculopathy in the right leg with neurological abnormalities. (R. p. 162, 205-208, 295-298).

[Then Standard denied Appellant's claim effective May 14, 2019, asserting that his benefits were limited to twenty-four months under the Musculoskeletal and Connective Tissue Condition Limitation in the policy. Standard later denied Appellant's claim asserting that he was not disabled from any occupation from any non-limited medical conditions. After exhausting all appeals with Standard, Appellant appealed the denial to PEBA. On March 19, 2021, PEBA issued the final denial for Appellant's LTD claims, stating:

“Therefore, PEBA, finds that the medical records do not support that Claimant has Limitations for restrictions due to any nonlimited to conditions, including radiculopathy, Neurological abnormalities or other enumerated internal medicine conditions, that would have impaired his ability to perform Any Occupation on a full-time basis after May 14, 2019. PEBA finds that Claimant is not Disabled from radiculopathy, neurological Abnormalities or other enumerated internal medicine conditions whether each condition is considered individually, or in combination with one or more other conditions. Accordingly, PEBA, concludes that Claimant's BLTD claim was properly closed after May 14, 2019.” (R. p. 31).]

Appellant then timely served his Notice of Appeal with the Administrative Law Court.

Appellants Appeal was denied by Judge S. Phillip Lenski on January 25, 2022. Appellant then timely served his Notice of Appeal with the South Carolina Court of Appeals on February 22, 2022.

### **III. APPLICABLE PLAN TERMS**

Appellant believes the following plan terms are relevant:

## “DEFINITION OF DISABLITLY

...

### B. Any Occupation Definition of Disability

During the Any Occupation Period you are required to be Disabled from all occupations.

You are Disabled from all occupations if, as a result of Physical Disease, Injury, Pregnancy or Mental Disorder, you are unable to perform with reasonable continuity the Material Duties of Any Occupation,

Any Occupation means any occupation or employment which you are able to perform, whether due to education training or experience, which is available at one or more locations in the national economy and in which you can be expected to earn at least 65% of your Indexed Pre-disability Earnings within twelve months following your return to work, regardless of whether you are working in that or any other occupation.” (R. p. 167).

### “A. Limitation

No LTD Benefits are payable after you have been disabled for 24 months during your entire lifetime (exclusive of any Benefit Waiting Periods). If your Disability was caused or contributed to by the following, or medical or surgical treatment of the following:

...

5. Chronic Pain, Musculoskeletal and Connective Tissue Conditions, Chronic Pain, Musculoskeletal And Connective Tissue Conditions means conditions such as fibromyalgia, reflux sympathetic, dystrophy, or myofascial pain, carpal tunnel, or repetitive motion syndrome, temporomandibular joint disorder, craniomandibular joint disorder, arthritis, diseases or disorders of the cervical, thoracic, or lumbosacral back and its surrounding soft tissue, and sprains or strains of joint or muscles.

However, Disabilities as a result of the following conditions are not limited: neoplastic diseases, neurologic diseases, endocrine diseases, hematologic diseases, asthma, allergy-induced reactive lung disease, tumors, malignancies, or vascular malformations, demyelinating diseases, lupus, rheumatoid or electromyogram and computerized tomography or magnetic resonance imaging, scoliosis, radiculopathies that are documented by electromyogram, spondylolisthesis, grade II or higher, myelopathies and myelitis, traumatic spinal cord necrosis, osteoporosis, discitis, Paget’s disease.” (R. p. 171).

## **IV. STATEMENT OF SUBSTANTIVE FACTS FOM THE RECORD ON APPEAL**

Appellant does continue to be completely and totally disabled due to lumbar radiculopathy, a non-limited condition under the policy. This is supported by the Appellants treating physicians, EMG testing, and the Respondents reviewing physicians.

Appellant has been seen and treated in the offices of Dr. Jason Highsmith and Dr.

Richard Guyer.

On March 12, 2018, Appellant underwent an EMG (electromyogram) which concluded:

“Needle EMG of the right leg reveals chronic L5 and S1 radicular changes.” (R. p. 295-297).

Proving radiculopathy with neurological abnormalities.

On September 18, 2019, Appellant was treated by Dr. Highsmith, who noted that Appellant suffered from “Chronic L5-S1 radicular changes.” (R. p. 201). He also noted that “Unfortunately, the patient has been with disabling chronic radiculopathy with neurologic deficits and pain. He cannot make standard nonsteroidal anti-inflammatories which would be helpful in treating his pain, but symptoms certainly qualify him for disability.” (R. p. 201).

On or around January 20, 2020, Dr. Highsmith, a board-certified neurosurgeon specializing in complex and minimally invasive spine surgery, completed a statement on Appellant’s behalf:

1. I am a medical doctor licensed to practice in the state of South Carolina, and I practice in Charleston, South Carolina. I am board certified in Neurosurgery. I have been asked by my patient, Mr. Jerry Arnette, to provide this statement to be used in his quest for disability insurance benefits. This statement is based upon my medical education, experience, my specific knowledge of Mr. Arnette’s medical problems and treatment history.
2. Mr. Arnette suffers from radiculopathy. Subjectively, as a result, he suffers:
  - a) Chronic back pain,
  - b) Tingling in feet and legs;
  - c) Radiating pain in feet and legs;
  - d) Decreased sleep;
  - e) Fatigue;
  - f) Muscle aches

His activities are limited as follows:

- i) He has difficulty performing some activities of daily living;
- ii) He cannot perform any activity for an extended period of time;

- iii) He cannot sit, stand, or walk for prolonged periods of time;
- iv) Because of his medical condition it is difficult for him to maintain a consistent schedule;
- v) He cannot lift more than 10 lbs.

Mr. Arnette's subjective symptoms are consistent with his diagnosed conditions.

- 3. Mr. Arnette's treatment compliant, and he currently takes Amlodipine, Gabapentin, Allopurinol, Bethanechol, Cyclobenzaprine, Tamsulosin, Pantoprazole and Tramadol.
- 4. It is my understanding from Mr. Arnette that his disability insurance provider has terminated benefits asserting that his disability claim is limited to twenty-four months.
- 5. I have been advised that the disability policy in question contains a definition of disability as follows:

**B. Any Occupation Definition of Disability**

During the Any Occupation Period, you are required to be Disabled from all occupations.

You are Disabled from all occupations if, as a result of Physical Disease, Injury, Pregnancy or Mental Disorder, you are unable to perform with reasonable continuity the Material Duties of Any Occupation.

Any Occupation means any occupation or employment which you are able to perform, whether due to education, training or experience, which is available at one or more locations in the national economy and in which you can be expected to earn at least 65% of your Indexed Pre-disability Earnings within twelve months following your return to work, regardless of whether you are working in that or any other occupation.

- 6. It is my opinion, based upon my medical education and experience and based upon my specific knowledge of Mr. Arnette's problems and treatment history that he is and has been disabled, as a result of his radiculopathy, from performing any occupation, consistent with the definition of disability above. I render my opinion based upon Mr. Arnette's diagnosis of radiculopathy and the subjective symptoms he suffers. It is my opinion that he has been so disabled since February 2017 and that he will remain so indefinitely into the future." (R. p. 228-229).

On November 7, 2018, Appellant saw Dr. Richard Guyer, who is certified by the American Board of Orthopedic Surgery, and specializes in spinal surgery. Dr. Guyer is the co-founder of the Texas Back Institute. Appellant complained of lower back pain that radiated to both legs and

feet. (R. p. 283). Dr. Guyer assessed the Appellant with chronic low back pain that radiated into his legs. (R. p. 283-290). Dr. Guyer recommended a lumbar discography and stated Appellant may be a candidate for additional back surgery. (R. p. 286).

Medications prescribed for and taken by Appellant for radiculopathy with neurological abnormalities. The medications listed were Gabapentin, Tramadol and Cyclobenzaprine. Listed on the undated "Statement of Dr. Jason Highsmith" (the "Statement"). (R. p. 228-229).

1) Gabapentin [Nertontin] 300 mg capsule.

Uses: Gabapentin is used with other medications to prevent and control seizures. It is also used to relieve nerve pain following shingles (a painful rash due to herpes zoster infection) in adults. Gabapentin is known as an anticonvulsant or antiepileptic drug.

Side Effects: Drowsiness, dizziness, loss of coordination, tiredness, blurred/double vision, unusual eye movements, or shaking (tremor) may occur.

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