THE STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA
In The Court of Appeals

RECEIVED

SEP 27 2022

APPEAL FROM ADMINISTRATIVE LAW COURT

SC Court of Appeals

S. Phillip Lenski, Administrative Law Judge

Appellate Case No. 2022-000182

Docket No. 21-ALJ-30-0222-AP

Jerry Arnette,Appellant,

v.

South Carolina Public Employee Benefit Authority,
Employee Insurance Program,..... Respondent.

RESPONDENT'S FINAL BRIEF

Michael T. Brittingham
NEXSEN PRUET, LLC
1230 Main Street, Suite 700 (29201)
Post Office Drawer 2426
Columbia, South Carolina 29202
803.771.8900

Attorney for Respondent

STATEMENT OF ISSUE ON APPEAL

Does Substantial Evidence In The Record On Appeal Support Respondent's Decision To Close Appellant's Long-Term Disability Claim?

STATEMENT OF THE CASE

This case involves Appellant Jerry Arnette's ("Arnette") appeal of the Administrative Law Court's ("ALC") decision to affirm Respondent South Carolina Public Employee Benefit Authority, Employee Insurance Program's ("PEBA") decision to close Arnette's long-term disability ("LTD") claim under the State of South Carolina Basic Long Term Disability Income Benefit Plan (the "Plan"). Specifically, the issue before the Court is whether substantial evidence in the Record on Appeal supports PEBA's decision to close Arnette's claim after he received LTD benefits for 24 months, and after PEBA determined that Arnette's medical conditions did not qualify him for additional LTD benefits under the terms and conditions of the Plan. R. pp. 60-73.

Arnette was formerly employed by the South Carolina Department of Motor Vehicles ("SCDMV") as a Driver's License Examiner, a light strength level occupation. R. p. 215. As an employee of SCDMV, Arnette participated in the Plan. Arnette ceased working on February 13, 2017, and filed an application for LTD benefits in which he asserted that he was unable to continue working due to degenerative disc disease. R. pp. 212, 215.

Standard Insurance Company ("Standard"), the third-party claims administrator for the Plan,¹ initially determined that Arnette satisfied the Plan's Own Occupation Definition of Disability and approved his claim. Arnette received LTD benefits from May 15, 2017

¹ PEBA has contracted with Standard to administer claims under the Plan. In its role as third-party claims administrator, Standard has no financial interest in the outcome of decisions under the Plan, and applies its experience and expertise in the area of disability claims review.

through May 14, 2019. Pursuant to S.C. Code Ann. § 1-11-710(C) (Supp. 2021), which provides authority to PEBA to establish claims procedures for the Plan,² Arnette appealed Standard's decision to PEBA for a *de novo* review of the decision to close his claim. PEBA conducted a very thorough review of all the information contained in Arnette's claim file. R. pp. 62-68. Based upon all of the information in Arnette's claim file and the terms of the Plan, PEBA determined that Arnette did not qualify for additional LTD benefits under the Plan. R. pp. 68-73. PEBA informed Arnette of its decision by letter dated March 19, 2021. R. pp. 60-73.

Arnette appealed PEBA's decision to the ALC. By Order filed January 25, 2022, the ALC affirmed PEBA's decision and determined that substantial evidence in the Record on Appeal supported PEBA's decision to close Arnette's claim. On or about February 22, 2022, Arnette filed his Notice of Appeal with this Court.

STATEMENT OF FACTS

I. Applicable Plan Provisions

During the first 24 months of disability and following a 90-day Benefit Waiting Period, a claimant is entitled to LTD benefits if disabled from performing his own occupation. After the first 24 months of disability, a claimant is entitled to additional LTD benefits only if he is disabled from performing any occupation. Specifically, the Plan's Any Occupation Definition of Disability provides as follows:

During the Any Occupation Period you are required to be Disabled from all occupations.

You are Disabled from all occupations if, as a result of Physical Disease, Injury, Pregnancy or Mental Disorder, you are unable to perform with

² For a full discussion of PEBA's discretionary authority under the Plan and the interaction of Section 1-11-710(C) and S.C. Code Ann. §1-23-380 (Supp. 2021) in appeals involving the Plan, see Section entitled Allocation of Authority to PEBA and the Appropriate Standard of Review, p. 13, *infra*.

reasonable continuity the Material Duties of Any Occupation.

Any Occupation means any occupation or employment which you are able to perform, whether due to education, training, or experience, which is available at one or more locations in the national economy and in which you can be expected to earn at least 65% of your Indexed Predisability Earnings within twelve months following your return to work, regardless of whether you are working in that or any other occupation.

* * *

Material Duties means the essential tasks, functions and operations, and the skills, abilities, knowledge, training and experience, generally required by employers from those engaged in a particular occupation. R. p. 80.

Even if a claimant meets the Any Occupation Definition of Disability, the Plan limits payment of benefits to 24 months during the claimant's lifetime for certain medical conditions, including musculoskeletal and connective tissue conditions, such as degenerative disc disease. Specifically, the Plan's Disabilities Subject to Limited Pay Periods provision (the "24-Month Limitation") states in relevant part as follows:

A. Limitation

No LTD Benefits are payable after you have been Disabled for 24 months during your entire lifetime (exclusive of any Benefit Waiting Periods), if your Disability is caused or contributed to by the following, or medical or surgical treatment of the following:

5. Chronic Pain, Musculoskeletal and Connective Tissue Conditions. Chronic Pain, Musculoskeletal And Connective Tissue Conditions means conditions such as fibromyalgia, reflex sympathetic dystrophy or myofascial pain, carpal tunnel or repetitive motion syndrome, temporomandibular joint disorder, craniomandibular joint disorder, arthritis, diseases or disorders of the cervical, thoracic, or lumbosacral back and its surrounding soft tissue, and sprains of strains or muscles.

However, Disabilities as a result of the following conditions are not limited: . . . radiculopathies that are documented by electromyogram . . . R. p. 89

Finally, a claimant seeking LTD benefits must provide adequate proof of loss demonstrating that he satisfies the applicable Definition of Disability. Specifically, the Plan contains the following provision:

Proof of Loss

Proof of Loss means written proof that you are Disabled and entitled to LTD Benefits. Proof of Loss must be provided at your expense.

For claims of Disability due to conditions other than Mental Disorders, we may require proof of physical impairment that results from anatomical or physiological abnormalities which are demonstrable by medically acceptable clinical and laboratory diagnostic techniques. R. p. 90.

Thus, to qualify for additional LTD benefits after May 14, 2019, Arnette must provide objective medical evidence that his condition prevented him from performing the material duties of Any Occupation due to a condition not subject to the 24-Month Limitation.

II. Arnette's Medical Records and Receipt of LTD Benefits³

Arnette stopped working on February 13, 2017, and underwent surgery by Dr. Highsmith, a neurosurgeon, for cervical disc herniations on March 6, 2017.⁴ R. p. 323. Following the surgery, Arnette, who has a history of polyarthralgia (joint pain), continued

³ The Brief of Appellant contains at least 44 references in the form "*Id.* at ___," which include various page number references that do not relate in any way to the ROA before the ALC. In some cases, the references appear to attempt to reference the Record on Appeal before the ALC and Respondent's Brief to the ALC; however, because the references are not otherwise explained in the Brief of Appellant, it is not possible for PEBA to determine (1) what many of the referenced documents are; and (2) whether such documents were included in the Record on Appeal before the ALC. To the extent that any of the referenced documents were not in the Record on Appeal before the ALC, such documents may not be included in the Record on Appeal before this Court, or considered by this Court. Rule 210(c), SCACR.

⁴ Contrary to statements in the Brief of Appellant, the timeline of Arnette's medical records set forth herein and in Respondent's Brief to the ALC is correctly recited. Dr. Highsmith's March 6, 2017 Operative Report clearly states that he performed an anterior discectomy and arthroplasty at the C5-6 disk level to treat Arnette's cervical disc herniations. R. p. 323. PEBA does not dispute that Arnette underwent prior surgery on May, 2016; however the medical history and timeline provided by PEBA, which was provided for Arnette's medical history for the time period after he stopped working and filed an LTD claim, is correct.

to complain of joint pain. R. p. 309.⁵ After ceasing work and undergoing back surgery, Arnette filed a claim for LTD benefits under the Plan, which was approved because Standard determined that Arnette's back condition and related pain prevented him from returning to work in his own occupation. Arnette received LTD benefits for the entire 24-month own occupation period of disability from May 15, 2017 through May 14, 2019.

On September 28, 2018, an MRI was performed on Arnette's lumbar spine. R. p. 273. The MRI confirmed degenerative disc disease, but had no other significant findings. *Id.* On the same date, Arnette saw his family physician, Dr. Fitzgibbon. Arnette complained of feeling like an "old man" with generalized pain and stiffness, "but most specifically with lower back pain with radicular symptoms to the legs." R. p. 274. Dr. Fitzgibbon listed Arnette's medications, but made no mention of any observed or complained of medication side effects.

On November 7, 2018, Arnette saw Dr. Guyer, an orthopedic surgeon, at the Texas Back Institute. R. p. 265. Arnette complained of lower back pain that radiated to both legs and feet. *Id.* Dr. Guyer assessed Arnette with chronic low back pain that radiated into his legs. R. p. 268. Dr. Guyer recommended a lumbar discography⁶ and stated Arnette may be a candidate for additional back surgery. *Id.* Like Dr. Fitzgibbon, Dr. Guyer listed

⁵ The claim file before PEBA and the Record on Appeal before the ALC, which are essentially identical, contained a large number of medical records for Arnette during the 2017-2020 time period. Those records relate to treatment for a variety of medical conditions; however, there does not appear to be any dispute that Arnette's sole basis for claiming ongoing disability relates to PEBA's determination, discussed in detail below, that his lumbar radiculopathy prevented him from returning to work after May 14, 2019. Because the issue before PEBA was whether Arnette continued to be disabled for a non-limited condition after May 14, 2019, PEBA's summary of Arnette's medical records herein will focus on Arnette's medical records related to his back condition and lumbar radiculopathy for the time period from late 2018 through mid-2020.

⁶ A lumbar discography is an imaging test of the spine to determine which disc is causing back pain. https://www.medicinenet.com/what_is_a_lumbar_discography_procedure/article.htm

Arnette's medications, but made no mention of any side effects.

Arnette saw Dr. Highsmith on March 7, 2019. Arnette reported persistent neck and mid and low back pain. R. p. 195. Dr. Highsmith noted that Arnette "would likely require L4-5 decompression and fusion at later day," and recommended that he continue activity as tolerated while following up with pain management to discuss treatment options. R. p. 197. Dr. Highsmith did not record any observed or complained of medication side effects. In fact, Dr. Highsmith's medical records are devoid of any such record of medication side effects.

Arnette returned to see Dr. Highsmith on August 16, 2019. He continued to complain of neck and back pain that radiated into his legs. R. p. 198. Dr. Highsmith recommended a thoracic spine MRI and ongoing pain management. R. p. 199.

Dr. Highsmith saw Arnette again on September 18, 2019. Arnette reported neck and back pain with his neck pain "at a tolerable level" and severe radiating mid back pain beginning at his shoulder blades. R. p. 200. Arnette had x-ray films that demonstrated degenerative disc disease in his lumbar spine. *Id.* Dr. Highsmith stated that Arnette had "chronic radiculopathy with neurological deficits and pain" with symptoms that "qualified him for disability." R. p. 201.

Arnette returned to Dr. Highsmith approximately 10 months later on July 31, 2020. R. p. 226. Arnette's pain complaints were essentially unchanged. R. pp. 226-27.

III. Statement of Dr. Highsmith

In support of his claim for additional LTD benefits, Arnette submitted to Standard the undated "Statement of Dr. Jason Highsmith" (the "Statement"). R. pp. 193-94. Dr. Highsmith's Statement listed numerous subjective symptoms that Arnette allegedly

suffers due to radiculopathy; listed Arnette's prescribed medications; and summarily concluded that Arnette is disabled "as a result of his radiculopathy." *Id.* Notably, neither Dr. Highsmith's Statement nor his medical records identifies any specific limitations and restrictions that Arnette has specifically as a result of his radiculopathy. There is no evidence in the Record on Appeal that any of Arnette's treating physicians conducted any type of functional evaluation to determine what, if any, vocational limitations or restrictions Arnette has. Rather, the Statement and Dr. Highsmith's medical records simply state that Arnette is disabled. Like Dr. Highsmith's medical records, his Statement makes no mention of medication side effects.

IV. Standard's Consideration of Arnette's Claim

As noted above, Standard approved Arnette's claim for the entire 24-month own occupation period, which ended on May 14, 2019. In order to receive LTD benefits after May 14, 2019, Arnette must demonstrate that he satisfied the Plan's Any Occupation Definition of Disability due to a physical or mental condition that was not limited by the 24-Month Limitation for musculoskeletal and connective tissue conditions.

On May 16, 2019, Standard informed Arnette that his claim had been closed with payment through May 14, 2019. Standard's letter explained that because Arnette's limitations and restrictions were caused by degenerative disc disease and osteoarthritis, the 24-Month Limitation applied to his claim. R. p. 179. Arnette appealed Standard's decision and submitted additional information in support of his claim, including medical records, discussed above, which supported that he had lumbar radiculopathy, which is excluded from the 24-Month Limitation's coverage.

In response to Arnette's appeal, Standard referred his claim to its Administrative

Review Unit (“ARU”) for an independent review. After compiling all of the available medical records, the ARU requested an independent medical opinion from a board-certified physiatrist and pain and spine specialist, Dr. Rojhani,⁷ regarding the cause and extent of Arnette’s limitations and restrictions.

As part of his review of Arnette’s medical records, Dr. Rojhani contacted Dr. Highsmith’s office to discuss his treatment of Arnette. R. p. 240. Dr. Rojhani was unable to speak with Dr. Highsmith and Dr. Highsmith did not return his call.

After reviewing all of the available medical records, Dr. Rojhani issued a report dated February 21, 2020 in which he opined as follows:

The claimant has cervical and lumbar disc disruption with chronic L5-S1 radicular changes. These conditions are classified under “diseases or disorders of the cervical, thoracic, or lumbosacral back and its surrounding soft tissue . . .

The provider documented chronic L5-S1 radicular changes. His 3/12/18 EMG reflected this and confirmed radiculopathy. The claimant also has evident neurological abnormalities . . .

The claimant has an extensive history related to lumbar [degenerative disc disease], and radiculopathy, and accordingly requires [restrictions/limitations] as follows:

Lumbago, lumbar radiculopathy

Sitting: Frequently up to 6 hours total per day⁸

⁷ Dr. Rojhani’s *curriculum vitae* is included in the Record on Appeal before the ALC at R. p. 244-247.

⁸ On March 9, 2020, Dr. Rojhani issued an important addendum to his report as follows:

[Question] - Dr. Rojhani listed restrictions/limitations for the diagnoses of lumbago and lumbar radiculopathy. Can he note if there would be any changes in those R/Ls listed if he did not include lumbago, and only considered those that are caused by/related to the lumbar radiculopathy and neurological abnormalities.

[Dr. Rojhani’s response] – Only considering the R/Ls caused by/related to the lumbar radiculopathy and neurological abnormalities, the following are recommended:

Sitting: Unrestricted. (Emphasis added). R. p. 236.

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